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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

DARNELL PARKER,
Plaintiff,
No. 11 C 00192

V.

ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT OF

TRANSPORTATION, et al., Judge John J. Tharp, Jr.

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Darnell Parker filed this action against the lllinois Department of Transportation
(“IDOT”) and IDOT employees Charles Klem@jovanni Fulgenzi, and ébin Thorpe, alleging
claims of racial discriminatioand retaliation pursuant to Secti®®81 of the Civil Rights Act of
1866, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, Section 1983 of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000et seq.,and hostile work
environment pursuant to Title VII. The counts founded on 88 1981 and 1983 were previously
dismissed as to IDOT,; the Title VII claims were dismissed as to the individual defendants. ECF
No. 33. Now before the Court is the defendantstion for summary judgment. For the reasons
set forth below, the defendants’ motion is granted in its entirety.

l. BACKGROUND

A. The Plaintiff's Local Rule 56.1(b)(3) Reponse and Statement of Additional
Facts

As an initial matter, the Coumust address the plaintiff's compliance with Northern
District of lllinois Local Rule 56.1, which provides litigants with instructions and procedures for
properly filing and responding to motions fsummary judgment. Pursuant to Local Rule

56.1(a), a party seeking summary judgment must file with its motion “a statement of material
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facts as to which the moving party contends there is no genuine issue and that entitle the moving
party to a judgment as a matter of law.” N.D. L.LR. 56.1(a)(3). For its part, the defendants
properly filed a “Local Rule 56.1(a)(3Statement of Uncontested Factsge ECF No. 61,
“consist[ing] of short numbered paragraphs” setting forth the “material facts as to which the
moving party contends there is no genuine issue and that entitle the moving party to a judgment
as a matter of law.” N.D. Ill. L.R. 56.1(a).

A party opposing summary judgment musimply with Local Rule 56.1(b), which
requires:

a concise response to the movant’sestant that shall contain ... a response to

each numbered paragraph in the moving party’s statement, including, in the case

of any disagreement, specific referenceth affidavits, parts of the record, and

other supporting materials relied upon, and .statement, consisting of short

numbered paragraphs, of any additionaldabat require the denial of summary

judgment, including references to th#idavits, parts of the record, and other
supporting materials relied upon.

N.D. lll. L.R. 56.1(b)(3)(A)-(C). As the defendantsrrectly point out, the plaintiff has failed to
comply with the requirements of the Local Rules.

Specifically, instead of responding to thefedalants’ statementsf material fact in
concise numbered paragraphs, the plaintiff submitted a combined statement that purports both to
respond to certain paragraphs of the defendd®tgé 56.1(a) statement and to set forth the
additional facts on which the plaintiff relies puasit to Rule 56.1(b)(C). After stating that he
“agrees with a majority of the facts presented by Defendant,” the plaintiff’'s submission states
that facts contained in paragraphs 14, 25, 27, 33, 39, 43, 53, 58, 59, 63, 64, 65, 66, 70, 71, 74 &
77 of the defendants’ stateméate in dispute or incomplete.” Pl.’s 56.1 Resp. 1 5, ECF No. 66.
The remainder of the plaintiff'drief contains statements @fdditional fact that, in some

instances, purport to deny the veracity of somthefdefendants’ facts, and which are organized



not in paragraphs that correspond to thosehan defendants’ statement but are grouped by
witness.ld. at 71 6-64.

This is not how summary judgment motions are required to be contested in this district.
See, e.g., Ciomber v. Coop. Plus, Jns27 F.3d 635, 644 (7th Cir. 2008) (disregarding the
plaintiff's 56.1 statementfdacts which contained “long, armentative paragraphs ... [which]
simultaneously denied the veracity of [defant’s] proposed material facts and presented
additional facts of his own”). District courts are “entitled to expect strict compliance with [Local]
Rule 56.1.”Ammons v. Aramark Unif. Servs., In868 F.3d 809, 817 (7th Cir. 2004) (citing
Bordelon v. Chi. Sch. Reform Bd. of Tr233 F.3d 524, 527 (7th Cir. 2000)/aldridge v. Am.
Hoechst Corp.24 F.3d 918, 922 (7th Cir. 1994)). As the Seventh Circuit has noted, even
“[s]ubstantial compliance is not strict complianckl” And more to the point, district courts are
not required to “wade through improper deniatgl degal argument in search of a genuinely
disputed fact."Smith v. Lamz et al321 F.3d 680, 683 (7th Cir. 2003) (quotiBgrdelon,233
F.3d at 529).

For these reasons, the Court declines to censite plaintiff's combination statement of
facts. The defendants’ facts are therefore dmkm@dmitted to the extent they are supported by
admissible record evidence and the facts asserted by the plaintiff are disreGaedee.g.

Ciomber 527 F.3d at 643 (affirming district court’s refl to consider the facts proposed by the

! The Court notes as well that several facts that the plaintiff's statement purports to
dispute do not actually appear to be disputed in the plaintiff's statement (or at least are not
identified as facts in dispute). Specificallyet@ourt found no specific reference to defendants’
facts 25, 43, 59, and 71. Other facts asserted ndants that are dismd in the plaintiff's
statementd.g, number 69) were not identified as facts in dispute at the outset of the plaintiff's
statement. Avoiding confusion of this sort i®gisely the reason that Local Rule 56.1 requires
the party opposing summary judgment to submiteégponse to each numbered paragraph in the
moving party’s statement.”



plaintiff’'s Rule 56.1 response because he didseparate his proposed facts from his responses
to defendant’s proposed material fac&ymons368 F.3d at 817 (affirming striking down of all
responses that did not comply with Local Rule 56s&g also Cichon v. Exelon Generation Co.,
LLC, 401 F.3d 803, 809-10 (7th Cir. 2005) (“A distrocturt does not abuse its discretion when,
in imposing a penalty for a litigant's non-compl@nwith Local Rule 56.1, the court chooses to
ignore and not consider the additional facts that a litigant has proposed.” (ditivgest
Imports, Ltd. v. Coval71l F.3d 1311, 1316 (7th Cir. 1995))).

As required on a motion for summary judgment, the Court still views the defendants’
admitted facts in the light most favorable Parker, the nonmoving party, and draws all
reasonable inferences in Parker’'s fav®mith v. Severnl29 F.3d 419, 426 (7th Cir. 1997).
Accordingly, the following factual background is drawn from the defendants’ Local Rule 56.1
statements of facBeeDefs.’ 56.1 Stmt., ECF No. 61.

B. Facts
1. Parker’'s Employment with IDOT

Parker, an African American man, veteran, and resident of Merillville, Indiana, was
employed by IDOT between 2007 and 2010. Am. Compl. 1 6, 8, ECF No. 6; Defs.’ 56.1 Stmt. {
1. IDOT maintains lllinois’s highways and employs Highway Maintainers and Emergency
Traffic Patrol (“ETP”) workers aseveral maintenance facilities, ‘gards,” throughout the State
to accomplish that taskd. at 1 5. “Highway Maintainers are responsible for plowing roadways,
patching potholes, clearing roadways of litter, and maintaining the yard at which they Mork.”
at 6. ETP drivers “keep traffic flowing” by “chgling] flat tires, remov[ing] stranded vehicles

and attend[ing] to motoristthat have accidentsld. During the winter season, IDOT also



employs seasonal employees, commonly referres tsnowbirds,” to assist with snow and ice
removal in addition to performing sometbg other duties of a Highway Maintainkt.

Between 2007 and 2009, IDOT employed Padsea “snowbird” while Parker continued
to work as a truck driver for K-Five Constructidd. at § 8. Unlike some other positions at
IDOT, “snowhbirds” are not requiretd be residents of lllinoidd. On October 5, 2009, Parker
completed an application for permanent, full-time employment with IDOT as a Highway
Maintainer.Id. at 1 9. As part of that application prese candidates are required to take a test
administered by Central ManagemeServices (“CMS”), and then are placed on an eligibility
list, lettered “A,” “B,” or “C,” that corresponds with their test scorég. at 7. Veterans, like
Parker, receive extra points on the test andehabsolute preference to be hired over non-
veterans on each lidd.

Parker received an “A” grad&. at 1 9. After interviewing with Defendant Fulgenzi, the
Personnel Service Manager of IDOT’s Distriedhe, Parker was hired as a full-time Highway
Maintainer on December 4, 2004. at 11 2, 9. However, IDOT hired Parker into the Highway
Maintainer position on @robationary basidd. at {1 9-10. Parker’s permanent employment in
that position was contingent on approval by &Mvhich, Fulgenzi testified, may lag behind
IDOT’s initial offer of employmentld. at  10.

Parker started in the Highway Maintainer position on December 16, RD@®.9 11. He
was assigned to the Dan Ryan Yard, where his duties remained the same as those of a
“snowbird.” Id. In late February of 2010, however, CMS informed IDOT that they would not
approve Parker’s hiring as a Highway Maintaibecause Parker was not an lllinois residiht.
at 1 13. CMS explained that Highway Maintaipesitions are subject to CMS’s Personnel Code

which provides, in part, that:



No person who is a non-resident of thate of lllinois may be appointed from
[the] eligible list [of applicants] unless the requirement that applicants be
residents of the State of lllinois is wad by the Director of CMS and unless
there are less than 3 lllinois residenavailable for appointment from the
appropriate eligible list.

Id. at § 17 (citing 20 ILCS 415/8b.1). IDOT attempted to obtain a waiver for Parker from CMS,
but those requests were denietat § 14.

Apparently unaware that CMS would not approve his hiring, Parker submitted his
resignation to K-Five Construction on May 25, 20ID.at § 12. Shortly thereafter, on June 9,
2010, Defendants Fulgenzi and Klemz, the Admiaiste Services Manager at IDOT’s District
One, met with Parker to explain to him tH@MS would not approve his hire as a Highway
Maintainer because he was not a residentlllofois and that his employment would be
terminated that day (“June 9 meetind9. at 11 2, 15. The defendants also provided Parker with
a letter dated June 9, 2010, from Matthew HrgghlDOT’'s Bureau Chief of Personnel
Management, which stated that “Highway iNtainer positions are covered by the [CMS]
Personnel Code. As such, CMS Hhhe final decision on transactions for this title,” and that
CMS “would not approve the transaction to hirarfker] because [he was] an Indiana resident.”
Id. at § 16. Hughes further explained that in Parker's case, “there were more than 3 lllinois
residents available for appointment with an A grade on the veteran list ... [and] [b]ecause of this,
CMS ha[d] informed IDOT that they [could not] té&r [Parker] and [therefore his] employment
with IDOT [would] be terminated immediatelyld. at 17. At his deposition, Reer testified that
at the time he did not believe his termination from the Highway Maintainer position was based
on his race, and he did not file a chargéhvthe Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
(“EEOC”). Id. at 1 18.

During the June 9 meeting, Klemz proposieat Parker accept a 60-day emergency hire

position as an Engineer Tech Il (“ETIII") assigned to be the “gas man” at the ETP facility
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located at 3501 South Normal, Chicago, lllindds.at I 20. Parker accepted this emergency hire
position, which did not require hino be an lllinois residentd. Neither Klemz nor Fulgenzi
were required to offer Parker the ETIII positidiut did so to assist him and prevent him from
missing a paychecld. at 21. At his deposition, Klemz also tiéied that he put Parker at the
ETP facility because it was closer to Indiana than the other available options and there were no
positions available at the Dan Ryan Yard, where Parker worked previddsigt | 21. In
affidavits, Klemz and Fulgenzi aver that thegve never offered an ETIII position to any other
IDOT employee who was terminated from a Highway Maintainer positibrat § 22. Because
the ETIII position was temporary, it did not come with benefdsat § 23. As a result, Parker
lost the benefits he had accumulated while a Highway MaintdiheThat said, if not for the
emergency hire arranged by Defendants Kleand Fulgenzi, Parker would not have had a
position at IDOT,; instead, he continued lkemployment at the same salddy.at § 21.

Klemz and Fulgenzi instructed Parker to report to Michael Schivarelli, the Operations
Manager at the 3501 South Normal ETP facility.at I 25. Schivarelli explained to Parker that,
as the “gas man,” any of the “lead” workers at the facility had authority over him and could give
him assignmentdd. At his deposition, Schivarelli $#ified that the duties of a “gas man” were to
pump gas, wash equipment, sweep and cleafatility, fill sandbags, ad other related duties
around the yardd. at { 27. Darrin Monroe, an ETP driver, also testified that on occasions when
he filled in as the “gas man” his duties included washing trucks, taking out trash, filling
sandbags, picking up trash, and answering the phdret. | 28. These duties are consistent with
the duties that Parker reportechttthe was responsible for as an ETIIl assigned to the ETP
facility, which included fueling and washing trucks, cleaning and washing garage floors, picking

up trash around the building, filling sandbags, and minor pairtngt  29.



In order to continue Parker’'s employment with IDOT beyond the 60-day emergency hire,
Klemz created a Technical Manager Il (“TMII") positidd. at § 30. Though different in name,
the duties of this position were the same as the duties Parker was performing as an EMIII “gas
man.”ld. at { 31. According to Klemz and Fulgenzi (dparker does not dispute them), this is
the only position they could create for Parker, but it had the advantages of providing full-time
employment while not requiring Parker to be [dimois resident and lowing him to receive
medical insurancdd. at I 30. The salary for the TMII position was about the same as Parker had
received as a Highway Maintainer and as an EMdI. at § 35. Parker had to submit an
application for the position, but was not requiredalce a test or go through an interviévd. at
1 34. In his application, Parker indicated thHet had been terminated from the Highway
Maintainer position in June 2010 because he lived in Indldnat 9 36.

For reasons that the record does not fully explain, when Parker was transferred to the
EMIII position as a non-permanent employee, hesmbership changed from Local 700 to Local
916, and he remained in Local 916 thereafterat Y 37, 39. The “gas man” position to which
he was assigned, however, was a Local 700 pasisis were all of the Highway Maintainer and
ETP driver positions at the ETP facilitid. at § 30. After Parker had become an EMIIIl, and
eventually a TMII, he began to complain abbig responsibilities and the manner in which he

was treated by the ETP drivers and Highway Maintainers at the ETP facility. Specifically, Parker

2 The TMII position was “double-exempt”—meiag that the position was exempt from
both the Personnel Code and Bgtaninterview procesdd. at I 33. As the defendants explain
in their brief, aRutaninterview is a type of interview process that was implemented pursuant to
the Supreme Court decisionRutan v. Ill. Republican Part$97 U.S. 61 (1990), meant to limit
hiring decisions to neutral rankings, as ogub$o political affiliation. Defs.” 56.1 Stmt. 8 n.1;
see also Rutar97 U.S. at 62 (holding that promotiobased on politicalféiliation or support
violate public employees’ First Amendment righ “Double-exempt” positins are also at-will,
meaning that employees in those positions canrb@rtated for any or no reason, so long as that
reason is not illegald.



complained that he had a separate sign-in sineetded supervisor approval to leave, was not
allowed to eat in the break room, was not given a locker, and was required to clean the facility
and wash management’s state carsdang to get coffee and doughnutsl. at 9 38-39.

Parker's major complaint, however, conoed the limited amount obvertime that he
received as a “gas man” at the ETP facility. Bef®arker's assignment as a “gas man,” ETP
drivers filled the position on a rotating basis, including during overtime periddat | 41.

When Parker arrived as a “gas man,” however, conflicts arose concerning the assignment of
overtime hours (which paid timend a half or double time, deming on the circumstances) for

the gas man positiorid. at § 41-42. Parker complained theg should be getting the overtime
hours on the gas pumpl. at 53. On September 7, 2010, Schivarelli sent an email to Klemz,
Fulgenzi, and Steve Travia, the Bureau Chief of Traffic for IDOT’s District One, indicating that
Parker was not happy with the number of overtime hours that he was reckivatd] 42. In the

email, Schivarelli explained that he had had several meetings with Parker to explain the overtime
process, but that Parker remaingthappy with the ovéme assignmentsd.

The next day, on September 8, 2010, Parket with Klemz and Don Chiarugi, a
Division Representative for thBeamsters Local 916 union, to discuss Parker’s belief that he
should be receiving all of the alable overtime on the gas punig. at  44. Klemz explained to
Parker that they would try to get him as much overtime as they ddulHowever, because
Parker was assigned to a Teamster Local 70Rigospreference had to be given to Local 700
union memberdd.

The following week, on September 18010, Dennis Willis, the ETP storekeeper,
submitted a memorandum to his supervisors, Schivarelli and Foley, indicating that on the

morning of September 14, 2010, Parker tdldlis that he “should leave earlyld. at § 45. At



the time, Willis observed that Parker was wearing camouflage fatigues, but did not see that
Parker had any weapond. Willis told Parker that “whatevehe planned he should re-thinkd.

Willis informed Erasmus Berrios, a Lead Worlegrthe ETP facility, about the incident the next
day. Id. Berrios advised defendant Tlpa; another Lead Worker at the ETP facility, about
Parker's comment; Thorpe, inrty advised Berrios that Sefairelli and Foley should be told
about the commentd. at 46. Berrios submitted a memorandtaySchivarelli and Foley stating

that Willis reported that Parker told Willis to leave work “because something was going to
happen” that dayid.

Defendant Thorpe also submitted a statement to Schivarelli and Foley indicating that he
had learned that Parker told Willis to “go home early today because something is about to
happen and there is abdotbe a war in here.ld. at { 47. Thorpe was particularly concerned
about the statement berse, as he admitted, he and Pamkere not on the best of terms and
Thorpe believed Parker’s statement was directed at ldinThorpe stated that he thought the
statements were a “very serious threht.”

Schivarelli submitted a letter to Klemz and Fulgenzi on September 15 asowatly 48.
Schivarelli indicated that Parker’'s statement, in combination with the fact that Parker was
wearing fatigues during the two days prior to making the statement, was a coldcern.
Schivarelli also noted that since Parker’'s meeting with Klemz on September 7, Parker had taken
a day and a half off from work and had been keeping to himdetit § 49. Foley submitted a
similar letter which stated that “Management has taken this incident as something potentially
serious especially since...Parker has receb@#egn wearing Army Camouflage Clothing to
work.” 1d. at § 50. Foley also indicatedathParker continued to complain about the amount of

overtime he was receivingl. at 1 52.
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Based on these reports and after discussing the issue with Klemz, Fulgenzi determined
that Parker's employment should be terminated.at 7 53, 55. On September 21, 2010,
Schivarelli handed Parker a letter informing him that he was being terminated that day because
his services were no longer needeldat § 54.

2. Parker’s Internal Complaints to IDOT

During his employment with IDOT, Parker contends that he completed and submitted
two “Internal DiscriminatiortAarassment Complaint” formsne signed on September 7, 2010,
and the other signed on September 21, 2010, the day that Parker was terngnatdfd60. On
the September 7 complaint form, Parker checked “Unequal Pay” and “Harassment” as the issues
on which the complaint was basédl. (citing September 7, 2010 InteinComplaint, Defs.’ 56.1
Stmt., Ex. 30 at 1). Parker specified that the baftss complaint was that Thorpe (who is also
African-American) had called him “&itch” on three occasiondd. On the September 21
complaint form, Parker checked “Riéion” and “Discharge” as issuekl. (citing September
21 Internal Complaint, Defs.’ 56.1 Stmt., Ex. 3@at On that complainform, Parker specified
that he had been retaliated against for filing his September 7 complaint against Thorpe and that
he had been working in a different job title than he was assigned, making less income than he
expectedld. A review of both complaint forms shows thdirker did not check “Race” on either
form as a basis for the harassment orréhsoation about whiclhe was complainingsee idat
65; see alsdnternal Harassment/Discrimination Colaipts, Defs.” 56.1 Stmt., Ex. 30 at 1-2.

Parker also submitted a letter on Sepiem7, 2010 to the Teamsters Local 916 union
concerning Thorpe’s cancellation of his diree on one occasion. Defs.” 56.1 Stmt. | 61. The
letter says nothing whatsoever about radecrimination. Parker feed this letter and his

internal complaints to IDOT’s Bureau of diRights on September 22010 at approximately
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7:40 a.m.Id. at  62. The “Received By’ stamp on each of the complaint forms indicates that
IDOT received them on September 22, 20i0.at § 63. Each document was signed by Civil
Rights Officer Lawrence Parish on October 5, 20M0.at f 64. Fulgenzi and Klemz both
contend that they never saw either of Parker’'s internal complaints or letter prior to Parker’s
termination on September 2d. at 71 70-71.
. ANALYSIS

Summary judgment is appropriate when the “pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no
genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter
of law.” Venturelli v. ARC Cmty. Servs. In850 F.3d 592, 598 (7th Cir. 2003) (quoting Fed. R.
Civ. P. 56(c)). Summary judgment is alsopegpriate when “the nonmoving party fails to
establish the existence of an element esdetttihis case, one on which he would bear the
burden of proof at trial. Bombard v. Fort Wayne Newspapers, |82 F.3d 560, 562 (7th Cir.
1996) (citingRichards v. Combined Ins. Co. of A5 F.3d 247, 251 (7th Cir. 1995)). In other
words, “summary judgment ippropriate if, on the record as éhale, a rational trier of fact
could not find for the non-moving partyenturell, 350 F.3d at 598

The plaintiff has brought his suit fortentional discriminaon under § 1981, § 1983, and
Title VII. However, the analysis for intentiondiscrimination under each tiese statutes is the
same.See Smith v. Brayg81 F.3d 888, 899 (7th Cir. 2012) (“In general, the same standards
govern intentional discrimation claims under Title | § 1981, and § 1983.” (citin§teinhauer
v. DeGolier,359 F.3d 481, 483 (7th Cir. 2004)Williams v. Waste Mgmt. of Ill., Inc361 F.3d
1021, 1028 (7th Cir. 2004) (stating that § 1981 claionsace-based harasent, discrimination,

and retaliation are evaluated under slaene rubric as Title VII claimsBenders v. Bellows and
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Bellows,515 F.3d 757, 768 n.7 (7th Cir. 2008) (“The sastandards for proving intentional
discrimination apply to ifle VII and § 1983 equal prettion claims.” (citingWilliams v. Seniff,
342 F.3d 774, 788 n.13 (7th Cir. 2003))). Plaintifflsim for hostile work environment was
alleged solelyunder Title VII. SeeAm. Compl., 11 38, 44, ECF No. 6. Accordingly, the Court
analyzes each of the plaintiff'satins under the rubric of Title VII.

The defendants argue that they are entitled to summary judgment on Parker’'s race
discrimination claims based on his termination from the Highway Maintainer position on June 9,
2010, and his termination from the TMII posttiion September 21, 2010is retaliation claim
based on his termination from the TMII positi@amd his hostile work environment claim based
on events that occurred at the ETP facility. Isp@nse, Parker argues only that he has sufficient
evidence to survive summary judgment on a claim for discrimination based on his termination
from the Highway Maintainer pdsn, retaliation for his termition from the TMII position,
and for a hostile work environment at the ETP faciligny other causes of action Parker may
have pled, therefore, are forfeited in light of his respoBse, e.g., Seiser v. City of Chq. 12

C 02353, 2013 WL 1809916, at *3 (N.D. lll. Apr. 29, 2013) (citfegmer v. Marion Ctny.327

% In his response, Parker argues that “his terminations from IDOT on June 9, 2010 and
September 21, 2010 were due to his race bechaswas repeatedly subjected to numerous
racially derogatory comments in connectiovith adverse employment actions and the
Defendants’ alleged rationale for his terminatiegis merely pretextual.” Pl.’s Resp. 4. However,
in the remainder of his brief, Parker only mmets argument to support his claim for racial
discrimination based on his termination from the Highway Maintainer position on June 9, 2010
under the direct method of pro@ee id.at 4-7. Accordingly, to the extent that Parker asserts a
cause of action for racial discrimination based on his termination from the TMII position on
September 21, 2010, that claim is waiv8de e.g., Brandt v. Bd. of Educ. of City of G(Q F.

Supp. 2d 921, 930 n.2 (7th Cir. 2006) (holding thiaintiff had waived a retaliation claim by
failing to respond to the defdants’ argument that theagin was without merit) (citingstate of
Moreland v. Dieter395 F.3d 747, 759 (7th Cir. 2005) (“Perftony or undeveloped arguments
are waived”);see also Volovsek v. Wis. Dep’tAgric. Trade & Consumer Prot344 F.3d 680,
689 n.6 (7th Cir. 2003) (citingnited States v. Berkowit227 F.2d 1376, 1384 (7th Cir. 1991))).
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F.3d 588, 597-98 (7th Cir. 2003) (claims and argusenot presented to a district court in
response to a summary judgment motion are édesbandoned and waived)). That leaves three
claims for adjudication: Parker's claim that his termination from the Highway Maintainer
position was racially discriminatory, his claim for retaliation based on his termination from the
TMII position, and his claim for hostile work environment.
A. Discriminatory Termination from the Highway Maintainer Position

Intentional discrimination can b@oven through either therdct method or the indirect
method laid out itMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Gregd11 U.S. 792, 802 (1973)The plaintiff,
however, relies exclusively on the directthw. Pl.’s Resp. 3-7, 11-18, ECF No. 75. Under the
direct method, the plaintiff may Iseon direct evidence, which “if believed by the trier of fact,
would prove the fact in question withordliance on inference or presumptioNénturelli, 350
F.3d at 599 (internal quotation marks omitted) (citRwgers v. City of Chi320 F.3d 748, 753
(7th Cir. 2003)). “Direct evidence ‘essentiallyqteres an admission by the decision-maker that
his actions were basegan the prohibited animus.Id. (citing Rogers 320 F.3d at 753). As the
Seventh Circuit has noted, direct evidence is 1@ee. id Further, the plaintiff may also adduce

circumstantial evidence that creates a “conwiganosaic” of discrimination, which “allows a

* Under the indirect, burden-shifting methdtle plaintiff must first establish prima
facie case for discrimination by showing that: “(1) he belongs to a protected class; (2) he
performed his job satisfactorily; (3) he suffd an adverse employment action; and (4) his
employer treated similarly situated employees outside of his protected class more favorably.
Contreras v. Suncast Cor@37 F.3d 756, 759 (7th Cir. 2001) (citifgockett v. Muncie Ind.
Transit Sys.221 F.3d 997, 1000-01 (7th Cir. 2000)). If the plaintiff establishpsnaa facie
case, the burden shifts to the defendanti&yoout a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for
their decision to terminate the plaintifiee Faas v. Sears, Roebuck & ,G82 F.3d 633, 641-42
(7th Cir. 2008) (citingBarricks v. Eli Lilly & Co, 481 F.3d 556, 559 (7th Cir. 200Ptasznik v.
St. Joseph Hosp464 F.3d 691, 696 (7th Cir. 2006)).). If the defendants do so, the burden then
shifts back to the plaintiff, who must producedance that the defendants’ explanation is pretext
for discrimination.Faas 532 F.3d at 641-42 (citinBarricks, 481 F.3d at 559Ptasznik,464
F.3d at 696).
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jury to infer intentional discrimination by the decisionmakeZdllins v. Am. Red Cros315
F.3d 994, 1000 (7th Cir. 2013) (citigyown v. Advocate S. Suburban Hosf)0 F.3d 1101,
1105 (7th Cir. 2012)). Circumstantial evidence generally takes three fBrowsn, 700 F.3d at
1105. “First, the plaintiff] may show evidenaaf suspicious timing, ambiguous behavior,
statements or comments dirececemployees in the protectedgp, and ‘other bits and pieces
from which an inference of discriminatory intent may be drawid.”(citing Phelan v. Cook
Cnty., 463 F.3d 773, 781 (7th Cir. 2006)). Second, anpi&i“may provide evidence that ‘a
similarly situated employee recet/enore favorable treatment.ltl. (citing Phelan,463 F.3d at
781). And third, a plaintiff “may provide evidence that the plaintiff ‘was qualified for the job in
guestion but passed over in favor of (or aggld by) a person not having the forbidden
characteristic, and that the employer’s stated reason for the difference in treatment is unworthy
of belief,”i.e., pretext for discriminationd. (citing Phelan,F.3d at 781).

Plaintiff's brief betrays a misunderstanding of the distinction between the direct method
of proving discrimination and “d&ct evidence” of discriminatiorSeePl.’s Resp. 3-4 (stating
that “direct evidence” proves discrimination claim while arguing that it is inferences drawn from
circumstantial evidence that do so). No direct evidence of discrimination or retaliation has been
adduced in this case; as the defendants submit, the record before the Court is devoid of direct
evidence of discrimination+e, an admission from one of the defendants that Parker was
terminated from the Highway Maintainer position because he is African American in this
respect. The absence of direevidence is not unusual, however, and it is plain that
notwithstanding any syntactical confusion, tpmintiff is asserting his discrimination and
retaliation claims based on an argument that there is a mosaic of circumstantial evidence of

discrimination sufficient to allow a jury to draw a reasonable inference of discrimination.
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That said, the circumstantial evidence Patkas adduced is not sufficient to support a
jury finding of discrimination. In fact, the onipference the record supports is that the only two
named defendants who had any imeshent in Parker’'s employment in the Highway Maintainer
position did everything they could to keep Parker employed with IDOT—first by attempting to
secure a waiver for the lllinois residency requirement from CMS and then by creating an
emergency temporary position and then a permanent position for Parker at the ETP facility. And
while Parker argues that “there was no osasvhy [he] was the only one dismissed out of
everyone who was hired” into the Highway Mtainer position, Pl.’'s Resp. 5, the uncontested
evidence shows that Parker was dismisseduseche was an Indiana resident and CMS would
not approve his hire or waive the residency reqoémt. Nothing in the record suggests that this
legitimate, nondiscriminatorpustification was pretext for discriminatione., “a lie.” Smiley v.
Columbia Coll. Chi.,714 F.3d 998, 1002 (7th Cir. 2013) (citiMaughn v. Vilsack715 F.3d
1001, 1008 (7th Cir. 2013)).

And while the record before the Court has been drawn solely from the defendants’ 56.1
statements of fact, the outcome would be the same even if the plaintiff's evidence is taken into
consideration. For instance, Parker argues that there are “too many suspect and/or conflicting
facts in evidence to support [the defendantsdinal that [their decision] was not based on
Parker’'s race.” Pl.’s Resp. 4. First, Parker eols that he was never notified that CMS would
not approve his hiring in February, when SMad initially informed IDOT of its decisioid. at
4-5. According to Parker, had he received ipriotification, he never would have tendered his
resignation to K-FiveConstruction on May 25, 201@l. at 5. Parker also contends that while he
was being transferred from the Highway Maintainer position to the emergency temporary

position, Fulgenzi and Klemz were giving him “the brush offfl” Parker also argues that his
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contention is further supported by the fact thatenof the defendants had heard of the Personnel
Code residency requirement beingdi®y CMS to screen applicanis. at 5-6.

But none of this evidence, even if supported by the record, is sufficient, either taken
separately or as a whole, to raise an inference of intentional discrimin&genkleishman v.
Cont'l Cas. C0.698 F.3d 598, 603 (7th Cir. 2012) (“[Clumstantial evidence...‘points directly
to a discriminatory reason fdne employer’s action.” (citindpavis v. Con-Way Transp. Cent.
Express, Inc.368 F.3d 776, 783 (7th Cir. 2004))). Perhaps IDOT failed to promptly notify
Parker that CMS would not ame his hire while they were seeking to obtain a waiver for
Parker and, perhaps, Klemz and Fulgenzi gavedpdhnlke brush off while they were securing him
an emergency position with IDOT (and eventuainpenent employment). Neither of those bits
of evidence says anything about the reason faclwRarker was terminated in the first place. In
fact, as already mentioned, Klemz and Fulgemere not involved in Parker’'s June 9, 2010,
termination, but instead had been doing everythmntheir power to either obtain a waiver for
him or secure for him another position at IDOHarker's claim that efforts by Klemz and
Fulgenzi to keep him employed by IDOT are circumstantial evidence of a discriminatory
termination makes no sense.

Further, in an attempt to identify a similarly-situated applicant that was treated more
favorably, Parker argues that Carlos Garcia Wwmed as a Highway Maintainer in June 2010,
around the time that Parker wasméated. Pl.’'s Resp. 6. Parkesalavers, inconsistently, that
there were supposedly 42 veteran applicanth an “A” grade, but the position vacated by
Parker was never filledfter his terminationld. at 6-7. But like the proffered evidence above,
this evidence fails to create a genuine dispute as to a material fact. First, Parker has not met his

burden of showing that Garcia was similarly situated—meaning, in this case, that Garcia was
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neither a resident of lllinois nor AfricaAmerican, Parker's protected classificati@ee, e.g.,
Winsley v. Cook Cnty563 F.3d 598, 605 (7th Cir. 2009) (“To meet her burden of demonstrating
that another employee is ‘similarly situated,” a plaintiff must show that there is someone who is
directly comparable to her in all material respects.” (cifagterson v. Avery Dennison Corp.,
281 F.3d 676, 680 (7th Cir. 2002))). Nor does he offer evidence that no one was hired to fill the
position from which he was terminated; instead, he tells us that he “has kept in touch with
several IDOT employees” whbave told him as mucHd. at 6. Even if that sort of report
sufficed as evidence to be considered on summary judgment (and it assuredly does not), the fact
that Parker's vacated position was never filled also falls well short of demonstrating that a
similarly situated applicant, comparable to Parker in all material respects but not in his protected
group, was treated more favorably. It is the plaintiffs burden to produce evidence that
demonstrates that an applicant is similarly situatse, e.g., Dority v. City of ChiNo. 98 C
04893, 2001 WL 1155286, at *14 (N.D. lll. Sept. 28, 200p4] plaintiff must provide specific
evidence and specific examples of employees who have been treated more favorably” (citing
Harris v. SSM HealthcaréNo. 97 C 02121, 1998 WL 704056, at *3 (N.D. lll. Sept. 13, 1998))).
Further, even as circumstantial evidence, fdet that Parker’'s position went unfilled, without
more, fails to raise a reasonable inference of racial discrimination. His position may have gone
unfilled for any number of perfectly legitimate or, perhaps even illegitimate, but non-
discriminatory reasons. But the plaintiff has ndtdaced any evidence on which a trier of fact
could base a reasonable inference thiatproffered reason—racialiscrimination—actually
explains why the position went unfilled.

Nor does the evidence suggest that the justification for Parker’'s termination was

pretextual. Parker offers no evidence that nondlb residents were holein contravention of
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the Personnel Code’s residency requirementl la@ does not even attempt to explain why
Fulgenzi and Klemz would have hired him tine first place only to invoke the residency
requirement as a preteixt derail that hiring. In short, Parker has failed to present any direct or
circumstantial evidence that his termination from the Highway Maintainer position was racially
discriminatory. Accordingly, the defendants’ motion for summary judgment on this claim is
granted.

B. Retaliation

Parker also alleges that the defendants retaliated against him for filing his September 7
complaint by terminating his employment frone thMII position. In the context of a retaliation
claim, the direct method “requires proof thaj {hie employee engaged in statutorily protected
activity; (2) [he] suffered an adverse employment action; and (3) a causal link exists between the
two.” Majors v. Gen. Elec. Co714 F.3d 527, 537 (7th Cir. 2013) (citihgchols v. S. lll. Univ.-
Edwardsville 510 F.3d 772, 784-85 (7th Cir. 2007)). To eBghba causal link, the plaintiff must
show that his protected activity was a “substantial or motivating factor” in the adverse
employment actiorMilligan v. Bd. or Trs. of S. lll. Univ§86 F.3d 378, 388 (7th Cir. 2012).

The Court first notes that there appearsb®o a genuine dispute as to whether the
defendants had notice of Parker’s internal clamnps for harassment. If the defendants did not
have notice of the complaints, there is no way tmyd have terminated Parker, or caused some
other adverse employment actionrataliation for those complaintSee, e.g., Durkin v. City of
Chi., 341 F.3d 606, 614 n.4 (7th Cir. 2003) (explaining that an employer’'s knowledge of the

plaintiff's statutorily protected activity is implicit in the first element gbrama facieclaim for

® Nor is there any evidence that FulgenzKéemz even made the decision to invoke the
residency requirement. The unrebdtividence is that they simply reported to Parker the CMS
denial of his application due his Indiana residency.

19



retaliation). And of course, therotected activity must have preceded the alleged adverse
employment action; the plaintiff's internal complaints could not have been a “substantial or
motivating factor” in the decision to terminate him if those complaints were filed after his
termination. See, e.g., Simmons v. Dep’t of Cent. Mgmt. SN@.,02 C 09492, 2004 WL
2584801, at *6 (N.D. lll. Nov. 10, 2004) (“Defendaduld not have retaliated against Plaintiff

for filing a charge that Plaintiff had not yet filand that Defendant did not know she intended to
file the charge.”). To that end, the defendaat®r that Parker's complaints were faxed to
IDOT’s Bureau of Civil Rights on Septemli22, 2010, the day after Parker’s termination. Defs.’
Mem. Supp. Summ. J. 9. According to the defetglaParker did not file his complaints until
that time and Klemz, Fulgenzi, and Schivarelli were not aware of Parker’'s complaints prior to his
termination.d. Therefore, the defendants argue, Parker’s claim must fail.

Parker, on the other hand, argues that it lmameasonably inferred that he attached his
September 7 complaint and lette his September 21, 2010 imal complaint for retaliation
before faxing them to IDOT’s Bureau of Civil Rights, but had filed them earlier, and that there is
at least a genuine issue of material fact reggrthie defendants’ notice of those complaints prior
to his termination. Pl.’s Resp. 1. All of that said, even ithe defendants had notice of
Parker’s internal complaints, the point is effectively moot because Parker has failed to show that
his complaints constituted statutorily protected activity.

As the Seventh Circuit has explained, “[a]lthough filing an official complaint with an
employer may constitute statutorily protected activity under Title VII, the complaint must
indicate the discrimination occurred because of sex, race, national origin, or some other protected
class.”Tomanovich v. City of Indianapoli$57 F.3d 656, 663 (7th Cir. 2006) (citiG&jeason v.

Mesirow Fin., Inc.118 F.3d 1134, 1147 (7th Cir. 1997)). “Merely complaining in general terms
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of discrimination or haigsment, without indicating a connextito a protected class or providing

facts sufficient to create that inference, is insufficieid.”(citing Gleason,118 F.3d at 1147
(holding that the plaintiff's general complaint about managemeneé stythout raising the
subject of sexual harassment fails to constitute protected actitgy;v. Ind. Dep’t of Transp.,

344 F.3d 720, 727 (7th Cir. 2003) (affirming the ddtdourt’s grant of summary judgment to

the employer on the plaintiff's retaliation claim because the plaintiff’'s complaint to his employer
“did not invoke any action protected by Title VI'Miller v. Am. Fam. Mut. Ins203 F.3d 997,

1008 (7th Cir. 2000) (holding that the plaintiff didt engage in a protected activity where “[h]er
complaints instead concerned a general displeasure with being paid less than her co-workers
given her longer tenure and the fact that she had trained some of them” and not discrimination
related to a protected class)).

Here, Parker’s internal complaints to IDOT and his letter to his union fail to allege that he
was being harassed based on hter His letter to Local 916 comai not a whiff of complaint
regarding racial harassment; it simply recountdetail an occasion on which defendant Thorpe
intervened to deny Parker an opportunity for twez as gas man, which Parker attributed not to
racial discrimination but to Thorpe’s attitude that “by him being a for[e]man gives him the right
to mistreat me at will.” Defs.” 56.1 Stmt., Ex. 36,8 Parker's IDOT complaints similarly lack
any allegation of racial harassment. On neitfem did Parker check the box provided to
indicate racial hasssment, and indeed on the first formtedthSeptember 7, 2010, Parker marked
the box “other,” and wrote in “harassment,ajplly suggesting that the “harassment” about
which he was complaining was not racial lsaraent. Defs.’ 56.1 Stmt., Ex. 30. Consistent with

that interpretation, the brief narrative destap of the problem Parker provided on the first
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form complains only that Thorpe called hinfkatch” on three occasions; the second complaint
simply asserted that he had been retaliated against for filing thedirst.

Parker avers that the term “bitch” has rdgialerogatory connotations, but he provides
no support for that contentidnCertainly the term has offensiw®nnotations in the context of
gendersee Passananti v. Cook Cnt§89 F.3d 655, 665-66 (7th Cir. 2012), but the plaintiff has
provided (and the Court has found) no indication thatterm is used as a racial epithet. Perhaps
not surprisingly, the Oxford English Dictioryadoes not offer any definition of the word
suggesting that it may have racial connotatidng neither does the Online Slang Dictionary

(www.onlineslangdictionary.comlast visited October 24, 2013), a source offering so many

slang uses of the word that it is almost incovaele that usage of the term as a racial epithet at
any level of ubiquity would have escaped its attention.

The point is not that Parker did not really ergtand Thorpe’s use of the term as racially
derogatory, or that no one has ever used the word bitch as a racial epithet, but that there is an
inadequate objective basis to consider use of that term to be a racial epithet. That is particularly
true where the context in which the term was used strongly suggests an alternative usage that,
while offensive, is not racial in character. As the Seventh Circuit has recognized, “[c]alling a
man a ‘bitch’ belittles him precisely because it belittles women. It implies that the male object of

ridicule is a lesser man and feminine, and may not belong in the workpRassananti689

® parker points out—unnecessarily—that he tiestithat he believed Thorpe was capable
of discriminating against him even though Thorpe was also African American and that Thorpe
did not like African Americans. Pl.’'s Resp. 12. THdtorpe was also African American does not
undermine Parker’s claintee, e.g., Williams v. Wendl€&g30 F.3d 584, 587 (7th Cir. 2008)
(“there can ... be ... ‘racial’ discrimination within the same rac&pe by Doe v. City of
Belleville, 1ll., 119 F.3d 563, 580 n.13 (7th Cir. 1997) (“pkiff is not barred from asserting
racial discrimination simply because the person whom she contends was responsible for the
discriminatory action was of the same racedprogated on other grounds by Oncale v.
Sundowner Offshore Servs., 823 U.S. 75 (1998).
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F.3d at 666 (quotingreeves v. C.H. Robinson Worldwide, Irs®4 F.3d 798, 813 (11th Cir.
2010) en bang). That is precisely the context in whithe record shows Thorpe to have used
the term; Parker’s Local 916 letter expressly clanmed that Thorpe had “belittle[d] me” and his
deposition testimony confirmed that the gist of his complaints was that he was harassed not
because of his race but because of his job title and union status. Defs.” 56.1 Stmt., Ex. 36, at 8;
See, e.g.Pefs.” 56.1 Stmt., Ex. 7.2 (Parker's Dep.) at 122:20-24 (“Because—in other words,
when | say | had no title, | wasn’t considered a permanent employee there, so because | wasn't
considered that, they treated me as if | was nobodat Ex. 7.3, 127:10-13 (“l wasn’'t—
because | wasn’t highway maintainer, ETP, hmgsn’'t considered Local 700, | was nothing to
them. And they would sit and point at me anagla And they did that consistently.”). In that
light, Thorpe’s use of the term “bitch” comports with a common usage: to belittle or suggest a
subservient relationship.

Parker may now believe and aver that thientébitch” had racial connotations as it was
used by Thorpe. But Parker’s “subjective beliefsithout more, “areinsufficient to create a
genuine issue of material fact” as to this element of his retaliation c&em.e.g., Hanners v.
Trent,674 F.3d 683, 694 (7th Cir. 2012) (citiMeMillian v. Svetanoff@78 F.2d 186, 190 (7th
Cir. 1989)). Even taking the plaintiff's evidence into consideration, there is no basis from which
a jury could reasonably infer that the defendamderstood Parker to be complaining of racial
harassment in the complaints he lodged onelpér 7, and accordingly there is no basis to
infer that he was discharged in retaliation for lodging complaints of racial harasSaene.g.,
Tomanovich457 F.3d at 664 (holding that general comytaof harassmerdr discrimination,

without facts sufficient to create an inferencattthe harassment or diBnination was based on

23



a protected class, is insufficient to show that the plaintiff engaged in statutorily protected
activity).

Parker also argues that Lloyd Hinton, anotleployee at the ETP facility, testified that
he “heard Thorpe use the ‘N’ Word to addrBssker a lot.” Pl.’s Resp. 13; Pl.’s 56.1 Stmt. No.
43. That assertion is not entirely accurate. Hinton testified that Thdammev4 that around a lot,”
but his testimony did not establish that Thorpe frequently directed the term toward ‘Péoker.
is there any record evidence that Parker was aware of any such comments during his
employment. Parker himself has not alleged amwoéd that Thorpe ever used that term and
Parker never lodged any complaint about theafiske “n word” by Thorpe or anyone else.

In any event, the inquiry in the contextRdirker’s retaliation clen is not whether Thorpe
used the “n-word,” either generally or in reference to the plaintiff, but whether Parker filed
internal complaints alleging that he was being subjected to discrimination and harassment
motivated by his race, thereby engaging in statutorily protected activity. Neitherksr'Ba
complaints, nor his letter to his local union, refeces or alleges thathorpe had called the
plaintiff the “n-word” or had even used the-tword” more generally. There is simply no
evidence, even taking the plaifig facts into consideration, to support an inference that Parker’s
complaints were based on racial discrimination.

Because Parker has failed to marskafficient evidence to support a reasonable
inference that he engaged in statutorily protected activity, his claim for retaliation fails as a

matter of law. The Court, therefore, does not need to address the causation of element of his

" Hinton testified: “Q. Did you ever hear amgcial comments made to Mr. Parker? A. As
far as like the N word, | heard that. Like Icahe throws that around a lot.” Pl.’s 56.1 Stmt. No.
43, EX. H (Hinton Dep. at 82:22 — 83:1).
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claim (.e. the question of whether IDOT’s termtitan of Parker was prompted by concern
about safety at the facility in the wake of Pai&evarning that “something was going to happen”
at the facility or by the September 7 complaand letter to Local 916). The defendants’ motion
for summary judgment on the retaliation claim is granted.
C. Hostile Work Environment

Parker also alleges that he was subjected to a hostile work environment at the ETP
facility based on or motivated by his race. Pl’'s Resp. 19-20. “In seeking to establish the
existence of a hostile work environment, [the] plaintiff[] must show that [his] work environment
was both objectively and subjectively offensive-attlis, ‘one that a reasonable person would
find hostile or abusive, and one that thetim in fact did perceive to be soEllis v. CCA of
Tenn. LLC 650 F.3d 640, 647 (7th Cir. 2011) (citifgragher v. City of Boca Ratos24 U.S.
775, 787 (1998)). “To survive summary judgmentaohostile work environment claim,” Parker
must demonstrate that there are material issues of fact as to whether: “(1) he was subject to
unwelcome harassment; (2) the harassment wasl loaskeis race; (3) the harassment was severe
or pervasive so as to alter the conditions of [his] work environment by creating a hostile or
abusive situation; and (4) there is a basis for employer liabiftyith v. Northeastern Ill. Uniy.
388 F.3d 559, 566 (7th Cir. 2004) (citiyilliams, 361 F.3d at 1029kee also Mason v. S. lll.
Univ. at Carbondale233 F.3d 1036, 1043 (7th Cir. 2000)). For many of the reasons already
mentioned, this claim also fails for lack of evidence.

Parker argues that he was subjected to a hostile work environment because Thorpe had
called him a “bitch” on three occasions and bseaRarker complaineabout this treatment.

Pl.’s Resp. 19-20, but as explained above, Parkermiod adduced any circumstantial evidence,
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beyond his subjective beliefs, to support anrgriee that being called a “bitch” by Thorpe had
racially derogatory connotations.

Even if these incidents sufficed as evidence of racial harassment, they would still fall
well short of conduct so severe or pervasive thattered Parker'sanditions of employment.
Indeed, Parker barely attempts to demonstrate this element of his claim. To show that this
harassment was severe or pemasParker only argues that he reported Pk conduct to
Schivarelli, Foley, and Chiarugi, filed a four-page complaint with Chiarugi, and filed the
September 7, 2010 internal complaint, none oiclvhas previously noted, complained about the
use of the “n-word.” Pl.’s Resp. 20. Parkecemplaints may demonstrate that the alleged
harassment was unwelcome under the first elemdmsaflaim, but these facts say nothing about
the severity or pervasiveness of the harassment, let alone whether the harassment altered his
conditions of employment.

Even considering the testimony of others Wieard Thorpe refer to Parker using the “n-
word” does nothing to bolster the hostile work environment claim because there is no evidence
that Parker was aware of those commefise Smith388 F.3d at 566 (plaintiff failed to
demonstrate a hostile work environment where she had “never personally heard [the defendant]
utter the [n-]word” and only heard the defenamnefer to other employees using racially
derogatory terms on one occasion). Parker nthies Lloyd Hinton, an Emergency Traffic
Patrolman with IDOT, tedied that Thorpe threw the “n-wdt around a lot, and used it once in
reference to Parker (Pl.’s Resp. 20), but Parkasalf did not cite Thorpe’s use of the “n-word”
as a basis of his complaints, and he never tastifieclaimed that he was aware of Thorpe’s use
of the term. Hinton’s testimony goes to his own subjective experience of Thorpe’s use of the

word; it says nothing about Parker’s subjectivpezience—the critical inquiry in this claim.
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Moreover, while “[r]eferring to colleagues with such terms ... is in fact deplorable ... the
mere utterance of an ... epithet which engenders offensive feelings in an employee is not
sufficient to establish a hostile work environmend’ at 566-67 (citations omitted). “The
Seventh Circuit has also noted that offensive statements made outside a plaintiff's presence, even
if accompanied by ‘a few [offensive] statements made directly to him,” do not constitute
‘harassment [that is] so severe or pervasive that it alters the conditions of the plaintiff's
employment.”Golden v. World Sec. Agency, In884 F. Supp. 2d 675, 687 (N.D. Ill. 2012)
(citing Thompson v. Mem. Hosp. of Carbond&25 F.3d 394, 401 (7th Cir. 2010pee also
Whittaker v. N. lll. Univ. et al424 F.3d 640, 645 (7th Cir. 2005) (“[A]n objectively hostile work
environment will not be found where most of the conduct that forms the basis of a plaintiff's
claim consists of derogatory statements mdxye supervisors or co-workers out of [the
plaintiff’'s] hearing, and the rest is isolated and not particularly sevekar) v. Minteq Shapes
and Srvs., Inc587 F.3d 845, 848 (7th Cir. 2009) (“Title M4 ‘not...a general civility code’ and
will not find liability based on the ‘sporadic use of abusive language.” (citation omitted)).

At bottom, there is no record evidence that the alleged harassment of which Parker
complained was racial in character or that it was so pervasive or severe that it effectivaly altere
the conditions of his employment. Accordingtile defendants’ motion for summary judgment

as to that claim is granted.

As set forth above, Parkerdhfailed to adduce sufficient evidence to survive summary

judgment on his claims for racial discrimation, retaliation, and hostile work environment.

Accordingly, the defendants’ motion for summary judgment is granted in its entirety.
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Entered: October 29, 2013

John J. Tharp, Jr.
United States District Judge
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